IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

*** YA-LING HUNG and WEI-HSIANG HUNG, **Electronically Filed** each individually, as surviving heirs, and Co-Nov 23 2021 03:43 p.m. Administrators of the Estate of Tung-Tsung Elizabeth A. Brown Hung and Pi-Ling Lee Hung, Descendants, Clerk of Supreme Court Appellants, Supreme Court No.: 83197 VS. GENTING BERHAD; GENTING U.S. INTERACTIVE GAMING, INC.; GENTING NEVADA INTERACTIVE GAMING, LLC; RESORTS WORLD LAS VEGAS LLC, Respondents.

APPEAL

From the Eighth Judicial District Court, The Honorable Nancy L. Allf, District Judge District Court Case No. A-19-795338-C

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

Kevin R. Hansen, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 6336

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from an Order dated June 30, 2021 granting Defendants Resorts World Las Vegas, LLC, Genting Berhad, Genting U.S. Gaming, Inc. and Genting Nevada Interactive Gaming LLC's Motion to Dismiss and Denying Plaintiffs Ya-Ling Hung and Wei-Hsiang Hung's Countermotion to Amend the Complaint ("Order"). Appendix ("App") 393-410). Notice of Entry of the Order was filed on June 30, 2021 (App 411-431). The Order Granting Defendants' Motion to Dismiss and Denying Plaintiffs' Countermotion to Amend the Complaint constituted a final judgment as to all parties below and was therefore applicable under NRAP 3A(b)(1). Appellants timely filed a Notice of Appeal on July 6, 2021 (App 432-434).

ROUTING STATEMENT

The instant matter should presumptively be retained by the Nevada Supreme Court because this appeal raises as a principal issue a question of first impression involving clarity of the common law and statutory interpretation. NRAP 17(a)(11). Specifically, at issue is an important question of how a Plaintiff properly obtains jurisdiction over a non-resident defendant under *Trump v. District Court*, 109 Nev. 687 (1993). This matter raises a question of statewide public importance concerning jurisdiction and forum. NRAP 17(a)(12).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the District Court erred in granting Defendants' Motion to Dismiss by failing to assert personal jurisdiction against GENTING BERHAD, GENTING U.S. INTERACTIVE GAMING, INC., and GENTING NEVADA INTERACTIVE GAMING, LLC ("Genting Respondents") and failing to recognize a cognizable claim asserted against Resorts World Las Vegas.
- 2. Whether the District Court erred in denying Plaintiffs' Countermotion to Amend the Complaint.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action for wrongful death, negligence, and intentional infliction of emotional distress against the Respondents. Appellants are the surviving heirs and Co-Administrators of the Estate of their parents, Mr. Tung-Tsung Hung and Mrs. Pi-Ling Lee Hung who died in a fire at the Resorts World Hotel and Casino in Manila, Philippines in June 2017.

Appellants filed their Amended Complaint on May 30, 2019. Respondents filed their Motion to Dismiss on February 5, 2021, claiming that the District Court lacked personal jurisdiction over the Genting Respondents, that Appellants failed to plead facts to support a cognizable claim against Resorts World Las Vegas, and that the First Amended Complaint failed to join a necessary and indispensable party. Appellants filed their Opposition to the Motion to Dismiss on May 14, 2021.

The District Court granted the Motion to Dismiss, ruling that it lacked personal jurisdiction as to the Genting Respondents and that Appellants could not state a prima facie claim for relief against Resorts World Las Vegas. The District Court alternatively found that an indispensable party (Resorts World Manila) was not served with process and that dismissal was proper under the doctrine of Forum Non Conveniens. The Order Granting the Motion to Dismiss and Denying Appellants' Countermotion to Amend the Complaint

was entered on June 30, 2021. App 393, 411. This is the Order from which the Appellants appeal.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

- 1. On June 2, 2017 at 12:11 a.m., Jessie Javier Carlos ("Carlos") entered the Resorts World Manila casino ("the Casino") armed with an assault rifle and wearing a mask and an ammunition vest. App 094; Amended Complaint ¶ 23.
- 2. A detailed chronology of the events can be found at App 197-199. These events are hereinafter referred to as "the Incident." Amended Complaint ¶ 24.
- 3. During the Incident, 37 people (not including Carlos) lost their lives, including the Hungs. App 094; Amended Complaint ¶ 25.
- 4. Due to certain suspected 'cover-ups,' families, including the Hungs, have been unable to obtain more information about the Incident and the circumstances leading to the Hungs' deaths. App 094; Amended Complaint ¶ 26.
- 5. As a direct and proximate result of the actions of Respondents, and each of them, The Casino reached some confidential settlement agreements with other families whose members died in the Incident, as a result of Respondents' wrongdoing. No settlement has been reached with the

Appellants who seek full compensation for the Casino's highly egregious conduct. App 094; Amended Complaint ¶ 27.

THE HUNGS

- 6. The Hungs were Taiwanese nationals and among the 37 killed during the Incident. App 095; Amended Complaint ¶ 28.
- 7. The Hungs were married and had two children: Appellant Wei-Hsiang and Appellant Ya-Ling. At the time of their deaths, the Hungs had four grandchildren. App 095; Amended Complaint ¶ 29.
- 8. At the time of the Incident, the Hungs were staying at the Casino as VVIPs (very very important persons). They were in the Casino's VVIP room at the time of the Incident. App 095; Amended Complaint ¶ 30.
- 9. During the Incident, Respondents' employees led the Hungs, and others, into a pantry in the VIP room, to hide from the fire. App 095; Amended Complaint ¶ 31.
- 10. After the Incident, the Hungs were found in the VIP pantry room, where they had died from smoke inhalation. App 095; Amended Complaint ¶ 32.
- 11. A detailed report of the misconduct of the Respondents has been prepared and can be found at App 200-272.
 - 12. Respondents have publicly admitted "lapses" in their security,

allowing the attacks to take place, resulting in Mr. and Mrs. Hungs' tragic and untimely deaths. App 092; Amended Complaint ¶ 4.

13. After the incident in question the Respondents engaged in fraudulent conduct to cover up their negligence and prevent Appellants from recovering for their injuries, thus causing additional injury to the Appellants. App 094, 099; Amended Complaint ¶ 26, 36.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

- 1. On May 23, 2019, Plaintiffs filed their Complaint. App 001-090.
- 2. On May 30, 2019, Plaintiffs filed their Amended Complaint. App 091-102.
- 3. On July 3, 2019, Plaintiffs filed their Proofs of Service on Genting Nevada Gaming, Genting U.S. Gaming, and Resorts World Las Vegas. App 103-109.
- 4. On February 4, 2020, the District Court Granted and subsequently Entered an Order to Extend the Time to Effectuate Service. App 110-113.
- 5. On May 28, 2020, the District Court Granted and Entered an Order to Extend the Time to Effectuate Service. App 114-117.
- 6. On August 6, 2020, the District Court Granted and subsequently entered an Order Granting Plaintiff's Counsel's Motion to Withdraw as

Counsel of Record. App 118-123.

- 7. On September 1, 2020, a Notice of Appearance was filed on behalf of Plaintiffs. App 124-125.
- 8. On February 5, 2021, Defendants filed their Motion to Dismiss with Exhibits A-C. App 126-167.
- 9. On March 3, 2021, Defendants filed a Notice of Non-Opposition to their Motion to Dismiss. App 168-170.
- 10. On May 4, 2021, a Substitution of Attorney was filed on behalf of Plaintiffs. App 171-174.
- 11. On May 5, 2021, A Stipulation and Order to Continue the Hearing on Defendants Motion to Withdraw was filed and entered. App 175-185.
- 12. On May 14, 2021, Plaintiffs filed their Opposition to the Motion to Dismiss and Countermotion to Amend the Complaint with Exhibits 1-11. App 186-367.
- 13. On June 3, 2021, Defendants filed their Reply in Support of Motion to Dismiss and Opposition to Countermotion to Amend the Complaint. App 368-381.
- 14. On June 10, 2021, oral arguments relating to the Motion to Dismiss and Countermotion to Amend Complaint were heard. See Recorder's

Transcript of the Proceeding at App 382-392.

- 15. On June 30, 2021, the District Court entered the Order Granting the Motion to Dismiss and Denying the Countermotion to Amend the Complaint. App 393-410.
- 16. On June 30, 2021, the Notice of Entry of Order Granting the Defendants' Motion to Dismiss and Denying Plaintiffs' Countermotion to Amend the Complaint was filed. App 411-431.
- 17. On July 6, 2021, Plaintiffs filed their Notice of Appeal. App 432-434.
- 18. On July 6, 2021, Plaintiffs filed their Case Appeal Statement. App 435-438.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

Respondents have subjected themselves to the general jurisdiction of the State of Nevada by purchasing property in 2013, developing that property over the past eight years and obtaining gaming licenses in the State of Nevada. Once general jurisdiction over the Respondent is established, Nevada is the proper forum to adjudicate Appellant's claims as Respondents have, through corruption and fraud, attempted to prevent Appellants from bringing their claims elsewhere. Appellants agreed to the dismissal of certain defendants not directly in the chain of tortious conduct as currently established. Appellants

request this Court reverse the District Court's Order Dismissing Appellants' claims and denying Appellants the opportunity to Amend the Complaint.

ARGUMENT

i. Minimum Contacts and Jurisdiction

a. Legal Standard

"To obtain jurisdiction over a non-resident defendant, a plaintiff must show that: (1) the requirements of the state's long-arm statute have been satisfied, and (2) due process is not offended by the exercise of jurisdiction. See *Trump v. District Court*, 109 Nev. 687, 698 (1993); see also *Int'l Shoe Co. v. Washington*, 326 U.S. 310 (1945); see also *Casentini v. Ninth Judicial Dist. Court*, 110 Nev. 721, 726 (1994).

A court of the state of Nevada may exercise jurisdiction over a party to a civil action on any basis not inconsistent with the Constitution of the United States. See Nev. Rev. Stat. §14.065. "Nevada's long-arm statute, NRS 14.065, reaches the limits of due process set by the United States Constitution." See *Baker v. Dist. Ct.*, 116 Nev. 527, 531 (2000). The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution requires a nonresident defendant to have "minimum contacts" with the forum state sufficient to ensure that exercising personal jurisdiction over him would not offend "traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice." *Id.* at 531-532.

Due process requirements are satisfied if the nonresident defendant's contacts are sufficient to obtain either (1) general jurisdiction, or (2) specific personal jurisdiction, and it is reasonable to subject the nonresident defendants to suit in the forum state. *Viega GmbH v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 40 (2014) (citing *Arbella*, 122 Nev. at 512, 516; *Daimler AG v. Bauman*, 134 S.Ct. 746, 762 (2014)).

Courts may exercise general or "all purpose" personal jurisdiction over a defendant "to hear any and all claims against it" when the defendant's affiliations with the forum state "are so constant and pervasive as to render it essentially at home in the forum State." *Bauman* at 751.

General jurisdiction exists over a defendant who has "substantial" or "continuous and systematic" contacts with the forum state such that the assertion of personal jurisdiction over him is constitutionally fair even where the claims are unrelated to those contacts. See *Tuazon v. R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co.*, 433 F.3d 1163, 1171 (9th Cir. 2006) (citing *Helicopteros Nacionales de Colombia, S.A. v. Hall*, 466 U.S. 408, 415 (1984)). In a controversy unrelated to a defendant's contacts with the forum, a court may exercise general jurisdiction where "continuous corporate operations within a state [are] thought so substantial and of such a nature as to justify suit against

[the defendant] on causes of action arising from dealings entirely distinct from those activities." *Id.* at 1169.

b. Argument

The Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada has jurisdiction to hear this case. The following is some of the information Appellants are currently aware of, and it is expected that after Appellants conduct discovery, these allegations will be bolstered and enhanced.

Respondents are engaged in substantial business within this District. In 2013 the Respondents, under the direct control of Lim purchased property in Clark County, Nevada for the purposes of developing a gaming property in Clark County, Nevada.

Since 2013 the Defendant Lim, by and through the entity Respondents have pursued the development and opening of a gaming property in Clark County, Nevada and have thereby subjected themselves to the jurisdiction of the Courts of Nevada and specifically in Clark County. See Clark County Real Property Records, App 273-282.

Kok Thay Lim is the primary owner of the Genting Group entities. Lim exercises ownership and control over all other Respondents in this matter and personally directs and controls the actions of the other Respondents in the actions set forth herein. See Respondent Flow Chart, App 334.

Upon information and belief, during the time frame of the incident referred to herein Lim traveled multiple times to Manila to supervise and control the actions of the other Respondents both before the incident and after the incident for the specific purpose of covering up the wrongdoing of the Respondents and to prevent the Appellants from recovering herein. See Corporate Profile and Information, App 283-296.

Lim, as a gaming licensee in the State of Nevada is subject to the Courts and jurisdiction of the State of Nevada and specifically Clark County. See GCB Disposition, App 302-333.

The State of Nevada has a significant and substantial interest in protecting the residents of the State of Nevada and those who travel to the State of Nevada for gaming purposes to adjudicate the conduct of its licensees, no matter where in the world that conduct takes place. See article on how Steve Wynn has been investigated in other gaming jurisdictions for this conduct in this jurisdiction, App 335-340.

By becoming a gaming licensee in the State of Nevada, Lim has consented to the jurisdiction of the State of Nevada over his conduct and the conduct of the entities over whom he exercises domination and control.

The actions of Lim and the other Respondents in attempting to cover up the conduct of the Respondents in the incident in question has left the

Appellants unable to pursue their claims in the courts of the Philippines leaving the Courts of the State of Nevada as the only available venue for this action. See Sanchez Report, App 200-272. See also the report on Philippines corruption, App 341-344.

The Genting Group entities own the Resorts World brand, including Resorts World Las Vegas and Resorts World Manila.

Resorts World Las Vegas and Resorts World Manila are therefore, for all intents and purposes, one and the same, owned by the Genting entities. See Respondent Flow Chart, App 334.

Genting Berhad, and Resorts World Las Vegas LLC are each corporations doing business in Nevada and registered with the Nevada Secretary of State.

In addition, Resorts World Manila is partnered with, and uses the brands of Hilton, Sheraton and Marriott, all based and headquartered in the United States and doing business in Clark County, Nevada.

Discovery will therefore show, including by piercing the corporate veil, the alter ego nature of Respondents' corporate structure and that jurisdiction is appropriate in the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada, especially given the lack of another appropriate forum to provide justice to Appellants.

Therefore, the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada has personal jurisdiction over both Appellants and Respondents and subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to Article 6, Section 6 of the Nevada Constitution and NRS 4.370.

ii. Appellant's Countermotion to Amend the Complaint

a. <u>Legal Standard for the Amendment of Pleadings</u>

Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure 15 governs matters concerning the amendment of pleadings. Pursuant to NRCP 15(a)(2), a party may amend a pleading by way of leave of court or upon the consent of the adversarial party. See NRCP 15(a)(2). For more than forty (40) years, courts in Nevada have held that leave to amend a pleading should be freely given in circumstances where "justice so requires." Stephens v. S. Nev. Music Co., 89 Nev. 104, 507 P.2d 138, 139 (1973). Courts have long held that leave to amend a prior pleading should only be denied in limited circumstances in which there is a showing of "dilatory motive, undue prejudice or futility of amendment." Id.

The Nevada Supreme Court has held that NRCP 15(a) contemplates the liberal amendment of pleadings, which in colloquial terms means that most motions for leave to amend prior pleading should be granted unless a strong reason exists not to do so, such as prejudice to the opponent or lack of good faith by the moving party. *Stephens*, 89 Nev. at 105, 507 P. 2d at 139. The

liberality reflected in NRCP 15(a) recognizes that discovery is a fluid process through which unexpected and newly found evidence is uncovered with regularity (particularly when evidence is solely in the possession of one party when the case is initiated) and that parties should have some ability to tailor their pleadings based upon information that a party discovers after an initial pleading is filed.

b. Filing of Amended Complaint

In this matter the Respondents have raised issues of jurisdiction, forum and appropriateness of claims. The Second Amended Complaint provides additional clarification and attachments which demonstrate the appropriateness of the courts of the State of Nevada to determine the issues related to this matter. See proposed Second Amended Complaint, App 352-367. Exhibits to the Second Amended Complaint are not attached as they would be duplicative to the exhibits to this brief. The Second Amended Complaint also narrows down the proposed parties and dismisses certain parties who, at this time, are not known to be directly involved.

c. <u>Dismissal Without Prejudice of Certain Defendants</u>

NRCP 41(a)(1)(A) allows the Appellant in an action to dismiss certain defendants before those defendants have filed an Answer or a Motion for Summary Judgment. As neither have been filed for any party in this case, the

Appellants in this matter will dismiss the following parties without prejudice subject to refiling should the evidence show a connection between those defendants and the incident in question. Genting U.S. Interactive Gaming Inc., Genting Nevada Interactive Gaming LLC, Genting Intellectual Property Pte Ltd, Resorts World Inc Pte Ltd.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, Appellants respectfully request this Court reverse the District Court's Order Dismissing Appellants' claims and denying Appellants the opportunity to Amend the Complaint as Appellants are able to establish jurisdiction in the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada.