IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

YA-LING HUNG and WEI-HSIANG HUNG, each individually, as surviving heirs, and as Co-Administrators of the Estate of Tung-Tsung Hung and Pi-Ling Lee Hung, Decedents,

Appellant,

v.

Genting Berhad, Genting U.S. Interactive Gaming Inc., Genting Nevada Interactive Gaming LLC, Resorts World Las Vegas LLC,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed Jan 24 2022 05:18 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Supreme Court Case No.: 83197

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP

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

Appellants' other factual contentions concerning conduct of individuals and entities other than the Genting Respondents is likewise of no moment, as they do not constitute contacts of any of the Genting Respondents. *Id.* AOB at 10-11. Further, Appellants' citation to a litany of third-party websites, Wikipedia pages, and news articles regarding entities other than the Genting Respondents is likewise of no support for finding "minimum contacts" of any of the Genting Respondents sufficient to make them "at home" in the State of Nevada. *Id.*; 3 JA 283-293, 335-340. Simply put, these are not contacts of the Genting Respondents and the District Court was correct in refusing to exercise general jurisdiction over the Genting Respondents based on these unsupported allegations.

2. The Hungs' conclusory alter ego allegations do not establish general jurisdiction over the Genting Respondents.

The Amended Complaint included conclusory allegations asserting that all of the Respondents are alter egos. Appellants' allegations were not supported by any facts or evidence and they cannot and do not save the Hungs' misplaced arguments.

It is only "[i]n narrow circumstances [that] federal courts will find that a corporation is the alter ego of another by 'pierc[ing] the corporate veil" and then "attribute a subsidiary's [contacts]...to its parent company for jurisdictional purposes." Corcoran v. CVS Health Corporation, 169 F. Supp. 3d 970, 983 (N.D. Cal. 2016) (internal citations omitted). In order to rely upon such allegations to support a claim for jurisdiction, courts require a *prima facie* showing that the alleged alter ego is (1) "influenced and governed by the person asserted to be the alter ego;" (2) that there exists "such a unity of interest and ownership that one is inseparable from the other;" and (3) that the facts pled support a finding "that adherence to the corporate fiction of a separate entity would, under the circumstances, sanction fraud or promote injustice." Polaris Indus. Corp. v. Kaplan, 103 Nev. 598, 601, 747 P.2d 884, 886 (1987) (internal citations omitted); see also Corcoran, 169 F. Supp. 3d at 983 (quoting Ranza v. Nike, Inc., 793 F.3d 1059, 1073 (9th Cir. 2015)); accord Neilson v. Union Bank of Cal, N.A., 290 F. Supp. 2d 1101, 1116 (C.D. Cal. 2003). As courts have explained, the first part of the analysis "requires a showing that the parent controls the subsidiary to such a degree as to render the latter the mere instrumentality of the former." Corcoran, 169 F. Supp. 3d at 983.

Here, the Amended Complaint falls woefully short. The Hungs' pleading only contains a reference to the elements of establishing alter ego liability along with the legal conclusion that "[d]iscovery will therefore show . . . the alter ego nature of

Defendants' corporate structure " 1 JA 93 at ¶15. Due process requires more than reliance on conclusory statements.

On appeal, the Hungs argue that a non-party, Kok Thay Lim, personally directs and exercises control over RWLV and other entities with "Genting" or "Resorts World" in their name. AOB at 9 (citing 3 JA 334). The "evidence" relied upon by Appellants for this conclusion is nothing more than a homemade flow chart apparently created by Appellants that is itself unsupported by any evidence.³ 3 JA 334. The District Court considered this manufactured document as well as the Declaration of Wong Yee Fun, Chief Financial Officer of Genting Berhad, and Genting Berhad's Group Corporate Structure chart filed with Malaysian authorities in connection with its annual filings in rejecting the Hungs' self-serving and unsupported allegation of an alter ego relationship between the Genting Respondents and other third parties. 2 JA 162-67.

Although RWLV is a wholly owned, unlisted subsidiary of Genting Berhad, such a relationship is not enough to confer general jurisdiction over any of the Genting Respondents. As this Court has long held, a subsidiary's contacts do not

³Moreover, through this homemade evidence, Appellants actually *concede* the lack of a *unity* of ownership between Respondents and Resort Worlds Manila, because this flow charts contends that other non-parties jointly own and operate Resort World Manila. 3 JA 334 (stating that "Resort World Manila is owned and operated by Travellers International Hotel Group, which is a joint venture between Alliance Global Group and Genting Hong Kong," and identifying Alliance Global Group as a "Filipino based holding company.").

confer general jurisdiction over a parent company. *Viega GmbH*, 130 Nev. at 375-377, 328 P.3d at 1157-1158. Rather, due process demands facts showing the control of the non-resident defendants over the resident defendant or factors that, if true, would show a "fraud or injustice" by recognizing corporate separateness. *Id.* at 383, 328 P.3d at 1162. The Amended Complaint does not clear this high bar.

B. THIS COURT NEED NOT CONSIDER SPECIFIC PERSONAL JURISDICTION—AND IT DOES NOT EXIST IN ANY EVENT.

In the alternative, Respondents moved to dismiss the Amended Complaint based on a lack of specific personal jurisdiction before the District Court. 3 JA 401. The Hungs did not oppose the motion to dismiss to this extent, nor could they. 3 JA 401. The District Court then granted the motion as unopposed to this extent. 3 JA 401. But, to avoid ambiguity, the District Court also found in the alternative that it could not exercise specific jurisdiction over any of the Genting Respondents in any event as all alleged conduct underlying the Hungs' claims took place in Manila, Philippines, rather than in the State of Nevada. 3 JA 401.

1. The Hungs waived the specific jurisdiction issue.

This Court should sustain the District Court's specific jurisdiction findings. On appeal, the Hungs do not attack the District Court's specific jurisdiction ruling. *See generally* AOB. "Issues not raised in an appellant's opening brief are deemed waived." *See Bongiovi v. Sullivan*, 122 Nev. 556, 570 n. 5, 138 P.3d 433, 444 n. 5 (2006); *see also* NRAP 28(a)(8). Because the Hungs must present relevant authority

and cogent argument on appeal, the Hungs waived a challenge to the District Court's finding of a lack of specific personal jurisdiction over the Genting Respondents. *See Maresca*, 103 Nev. 669, 748 P.2d at 6.

2. Even if Appellants had not waived the issue, the District Court properly declined to exercise specific personal jurisdiction over any of the Genting Respondents.

In any event, the District Court could not exercise specific personal jurisdiction over any of the Genting Respondents. Nevada courts use a three-prong test to determine whether it is appropriate to exercise specific jurisdiction over a defendant:

[1] [t]he defendant must purposefully avail himself of the privilege of acting in the forum state or of causing important consequences in that state. [2] The cause of action must arise from the consequences in the forum state of the defendant's activities, and [3] those activities, or the consequences thereof, must have a substantial enough connection with the forum state to make the exercise of jurisdiction over the defendant reasonable.

Consipio Holding, BV v. Carlberg, 128 Nev. 454, 458, 282 P.3d 751, 755 (2012) (internal quotation marks omitted); see also Viega GmbH, 130 Nev. at 375, 328 P.3d at 1157. In short, a defendant's suit-related conduct must create a substantial connection with the forum state to vest jurisdiction, so that the suit arises "out of contacts that the 'defendant himself' creates with the forum State." Walden v. Fiore, 571 U.S. 277, 282-84 (2014).

The United States Supreme Court has recognized this analysis centers on "the relationship among the defendant, the forum, and the litigation." *Walden v. Fiore*, 571 U.S. 277, 282-84 (2014) (internal citations omitted). *Id.* In other words, the suit must arise out of the defendant's own contacts with the forum state, not someone else's contacts. *Id.* at 284. The high court has "consistently rejected attempts to satisfy the defendant-focused 'minimum contacts' inquiry by demonstrating contacts between the plaintiff (or third parties) and the forum State." *Id.* Instead, the "minimum contacts" analysis looks to the defendant's contacts with the forum state itself, not the defendant's contacts with persons who reside there. *Id.* at 285.

As other Nevada courts have recognized, mere affiliation with a resident defendant does not confer specific jurisdiction over foreign defendants. *See Southport Lane Equity II, LLC v. Downey*, 177 F. Supp.3d 1286 (D. Nev. 2016). In *Southport Lane*, a shareholder brought claims against a corporation's directors and officers, including non-resident corporate officers and directors. *Id.* at 1268. The *Southport Lane* court later dismissed the claims against the non-resident director and officer defendants upon their motion. 177 F.Supp.3d at 1296. It recognized that "a mere connection between a defendant and a plaintiff that has contacts with the forum state or that has been injured in the state is insufficient for personal jurisdiction under the Due Process Clause." *Id.* As a result, the court found that due process prevented it from "[s]ubjecting the directors or officers of a corporation to jurisdiction" where

"the directors or officers ha[d] no personal contacts whatsoever with the forum state" *Id*. Ultimately, "what matters most in this analysis is not the corporation's own contacts with Nevada but the *individual Defendants' contacts with the State*." *Id*. (emphasis added).

In this case, Nevada courts cannot exercise specific jurisdiction over the Genting Respondents: The Genting Respondents have no significant connection to Nevada. 1 JA 150-54. The Hungs have not attempted, and cannot so establish, that the Genting Respondents engaged in any specific "suit-related conduct" in Nevada that would create a substantial connection between them and Nevada to warrant exercise of specific jurisdiction over them. *See generally* 1 JA 91-102. Each claim arises solely from the June 2017 event in Manila, Philippines. 1 JA 94 at ¶¶ 22-25. There are no substantive factual allegations relating to or taking place in Nevada underlying any of the Hungs' claims.

Further, courts presume that "[c]orporate entities are [] separate, and thus, indicia of mere ownership are not alone sufficient to subject a parent company to jurisdiction based on its subsidiary's contacts." *Viega GmbH*, 130 Nev. at 378, 328 P.3d at 1158 (collecting cases). RWLV, the only Nevada defendant, is a third party to this Philippine dispute absent clear and substantial allegations tying these defendants together. There are none. This is especially so because none of the claims transpired in the State of Nevada at all. These facts cannot be materially

distinguished from *Southport Lane* and the outcome is the same.

This Court should sustain the District Court's non-exercise of specific jurisdiction if it declines to consider this issue waived.

II. THE HUNGS FAILED TO STATE A CLAIM AGAINST RWLV.

As with the issue of specific jurisdiction, the Hungs have waived any argument regarding the dismissal based on failure to state a claim, as they did not address this basis for dismissal in their Opening Brief. *See Bongiovi v. Sullivan, supra*. But should this Court consider this issue, the dismissal should be affirmed. The events of this case took place entirely in the Philippines, and no facts showing any conduct by RWLV were alleged. *See generally* 1 JA 91-102.⁴

When a plaintiff fails to "state a claim upon which relief can be granted," the Court must dismiss the claim upon motion under NRCP 12(b)(5). In this posture, this Court reviews the decision *de novo* and accepts factual allegations as true, "but the allegations must be legally sufficient to constitute the elements of the claims asserted." *Sanchez v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 125 Nev. 818, 823, 221 P.3d 1276, 1280 (2009) (internal citation omitted). "To survive dismissal, a complaint must contain some 'set of facts, which, if true, would entitle the plaintiff to relief." *In re*

⁴The same analysis set forth herein would apply to the other Genting Respondents if such claims were not dismissed based on the lack of personal jurisdiction. Just as the shortcoming as to RWLV, the Hungs do not allege *any* facts that any of the Genting Respondents engaged in any of the conduct in the Philippines giving rise to their claims in the Amended Complaint. 1 JA 91-102.

Amerco Derivative Litig., 127 Nev. 196, 211, 252 P.3d 681, 692 (2011) (internal citation omitted).

Here, the Hungs allege that unspecified "Defendants" injured them but include RWLV within the term "Defendants" based solely on the conclusory, unsupported allegation that the Genting Respondents purportedly own both Resorts World Manila and RWLV. The Hungs failed to plead any factual allegations necessary to support an alter ego theory. 1 JA 91-102. See Polaris Industrial Corp. v. Kaplan, 103 Nev. 598, 601-02, 747 P.2d 884, 886-87 (1987) (describing the requirement to establish an alter ego claim). The Amended Complaint's conclusory "alter ego" allegations fail to attach liability to RWLV. Again, to support an alter ego theory of liability, the Hungs were required to plead facts that could demonstrate a "unity of interest and ownership" and facts supporting that "treating the corporations as separate entities would result in injustice." Viega GmbH, 130 Nev. at 383, 328 P.3d at 1162 (Pickering, J. concurring) (citing Am. Tel. & Tel. Co. v. Compagnie Bruxelles Lambert, 94 F.3d 586, 591 (9th Cir. 1996)). The Hungs failed to meet this standard.

As such, the Hungs failed to state a claim against RWLV based on the conduct of other foreign parties which wholly relate to an unfortunate incident in the Philippines—not Las Vegas. 1 JA 91-102. The Hungs have not presented a prima facie case of wrongful death or negligence against RWLV because they have not

alleged any facts from which it may be inferred that RWLV had a duty to the Hungs' parents, or that such duty was breached. *Id*.

This Court should affirm the District Court's NRCP 12(b)(5) dismissal of all claims against RWLV.

III. THE HUNGS NEGLECTED TO JOIN A NECESSARY AND INDISPENSABLE PARTY.

The District Court alternatively found that the Hungs neglected to join a necessary and indispensable party pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(6), which likewise justified dismissal of the Amended Complaint. 3 JA 424-23.

A. The Hungs waived this issue in the District Court, and again on appeal.

Although Respondents raised this issue in their Motion to Dismiss, the Hungs did not oppose the motion to dismiss on this ground. Accordingly, the Hungs waived any right to contest the issue. *Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown,* 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981) ("A point not urged in the trial court, unless it goes to the jurisdiction of that court, is deemed to have been waived and will not be considered on appeal.") (internal citations omitted). On appeal, the Hungs did not address this ground for dismissal in their opening brief. Thus, this issue is not properly before the Court. *See Bongiovi v. Sullivan, supra.* Accordingly, affirmance is required.

B. The Hungs failed to properly join Resorts World Manila by failing to effectuate service despite being given multiple extensions to do so.

A party *must* be joined as a necessary and indispensable party under NRCP 19(a) if (1) complete relief cannot be accorded in his absence, (2) he claims an interest in the subject of the action, or (3) adjudication in the individual's absence potentially subjects parties to double, multiple or otherwise inconsistent obligations. The failure to join a necessary and indispensable party warrants dismissal under NRCP 12(b)(6). *Humphries v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court of State*, 129 Nev. 788, 792, 312 P.3d 484, 487 (2013) (reviewing failure to join de novo). NRCP 19 ensures that "all persons materially interested in the subject matter of the suit [are] made parties so that there is a complete decree to bind them all." *Olsen Family Tr. v. District Court*, 110 Nev. 548, 553, 874 P.2d 778, 781 (1994). For this reason, this Court held that the failure to join a necessary party to a case was "fatal to the district court's judgment." *Id.* at 554; 874 P.2d at 782.

There is no reasonable dispute that Resorts World Manila, the entity where all the alleged conduct underlying the Hungs' claims took place, is a necessary and indispensable party. However, the Hungs failed to bring this party into the litigation by effectuating service on it. The Hungs obtained two separate extensions of time to serve Resorts World Manila, 1 JA 110, 114, yet still failed to serve Resorts World Manila in this action prior to the expiration of the deadline or to otherwise seek another extension of time to effectuate service. Months went by after this deadline

lapsed before the Genting Respondents and RWLV served their Motion to Dismiss.

1 JA 114 ("The deadline for Plaintiffs to effectuate service in this case shall be extended to September 16, 2020."); compare 1 JA 126 (motion to dismiss filed February 5, 2021). Without joining the entity that owns and operates the resort at the very heart of this litigation raises insurmountable hurdles to the action and potentially exposes RWLV, the Genting Respondents, and even Resorts World Manila to conflicting and multiple liabilities absence affirmance of the District Court's dismissal. As Resorts World Manila is a necessary and indispensable party, the Court should affirm on this alternative basis as well.

IV. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DISMISSED THE CASE BASED UPON FORUM NON CONVENIENS.

On top of its other rulings, the District Court alternatively found that the doctrine of *forum non conveniens* prevented it from exercising jurisdiction over this dispute. 3 JA 425-27. To these ends, the District Court gave no deference to the Hungs' forum choice given their lack of Nevada connection. 3 JA 426. The District Court also discerned that an adequate alternative forum existed—the Philippines. 3 JA 426. Finally, the District Court weighed the public and private interest factors and found them to warrant dismissal under these facts. 3 AA 427. This Court should affirm.

This Court reviews a *forum non conveniens* dismissal for abuse of discretion.

Provincial Gov't of Marinduque v. Placer Dome, Inc., 131 Nev. 296, 300, 350 P.3d

392, 396 (2015). The doctrine of *forum non conveniens* permits a trial court to decline to exercise jurisdiction in a case where litigation in a foreign forum would be more convenient for the parties. *Lueck v. Sundstrand Corp.*, 236 F.3d 1137 (9th Cir. 2001) (citing *Gulf Oil Corp. v. Gilbert*, 330 U.S. 501, 504 (1947)).

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